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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA 

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND 
EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 
C.A. No. __-____

v. 

PATHYAM PATEL, JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

Defendant. 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission” or 

“SEC”) files this Complaint against Defendant Pathyam Patel (“Patel”) and alleges as follows: 

SUMMARY 

1. From at least January 2019 through March 2023 (the “Relevant Period”), Patel

perpetrated a fraudulent investment scheme in which he induced at least 15 individuals, many of 

whom were college students, to invest more than $430,000 in principal and purported fee 

payments with his purported company, Infinity Wealth Management, LLC (“Infinity”).   

2. Patel deceived clients and prospective clients by making materially false and

misleading claims about: (i) his and Infinity’s qualifications, licensure, and endorsement by the 

Commission, (ii) how he would invest their funds and the profitability of the investments, and 

(iii) their principal investments being guaranteed.

3. For example, Patel deceived prospective clients by telling them Infinity was

“licensed” with the Commission as an investment adviser that offered investment portfolio 
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management services to a wide range of clients, including a hedge fund.  He also told clients that 

he would invest their money in stocks and options as well as crypto assets. 

4. However, neither Patel nor Infinity was registered with or endorsed by the 

Commission; and neither Patel nor Infinity ever formed or managed a hedge fund. 

5. In reality, Infinity existed in name only.  It had no bank accounts, brokerage 

accounts, office space, employees, or assets of any kind. 

6. Instead of investing his clients’ money as promised, Patel misappropriated most 

of their money to pay for his personal expenses and to make Ponzi-like payments to other clients. 

7. Patel further injured his clients by charging them thousands of dollars in bogus 

“fees” relating to their investments, including what Patel described as “transfer fees” or fees he 

claimed the clients owed the SEC, IRS, and Virginia State Corporation Commission.  These fees 

did not exist. 

8. By engaging in the conduct described in this Complaint, Patel violated, and unless 

enjoined will continue to violate, Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) 

[15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)], Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) 

[15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5], and Sections 206(1) 

and (2) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(1) and (2)]. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(b) and 22(a) of 

the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b) and 77v(a)], Sections 21(d) and 27(a) of the Exchange 

Act [15 U.S.C. § 78(u)(d) and 78aa], and Sections 209(d) and 214(a) of the Advisers Act [15 

U.S.C. §§ 80b-9(d) and 80b-14(a)].  
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10. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Patel.  During the Relevant Period, Patel 

resided in the Northern District of Alabama and many of the acts and transactions constituting 

violations of the Securities Act, Exchange Act, and Advisers Act alleged in this Complaint 

occurred in the Northern District of Alabama.  Many of the victims of Patel’s fraud also resided 

within this District during the Relevant Period.  

11. Venue is proper in the Northern District of Alabama pursuant to Section 22(a) of 

the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77v(a)], Section 27(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78aa(a)], 

and Section 214(a) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-14(a)].  Transactions, acts, practices 

and courses of conduct constituting violations of the federal securities laws occurred within this 

District.  Patel and many of his clients also resided within the Northern District of Alabama 

during the Relevant Period. 

12. In connection with the conduct described in this Complaint, Patel made use of the 

means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, of the mails, or of the facilities of a national 

securities exchange.  Among other things, Patel used email messages, telephones, the mails, and 

bank wires to perpetrate his scheme. 

DEFENDANT 

13. Patel, age 25, is a resident of Chantilly, Virginia.  During the Relevant Period, he 

resided in Tuscaloosa, Alabama.  Patel has never been registered or licensed in any capacity with 

the Commission or any state securities agencies. 

FACTS 

14. During the Relevant Period, Patel solicited at least 15 people, including college 

and high school friends and their family members, to become clients of his purported company, 

Infinity.   
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15. However, Infinity existed in name only.  It had no employees, staff, or office 

space.  And, it had no bank accounts, brokerage accounts, or other assets. 

16. Patel lied to clients and potential clients about his experience managing 

investments of others, purported licensure and endorsements, how he would invest their money, 

his actual use of their money, guaranteeing their principal, and “fees” purportedly charged by 

third parties.   

17. Many of Patel’s clients invested less than $15,000 with him, but a few invested 

larger amounts, with the largest client providing more than $100,000 for Patel to invest on their 

behalf.  Most of the clients sent money to Patel to invest for them multiple times, transferring as 

little as $100 at a time.   

A. Patel Misrepresented His And Infinity’s Qualifications, 
Licensure, And Endorsement By The Commission. 
 
18. Patel made false or misleading statements to potential and existing clients about 

Infinity’s status as a “licensed” entity and his qualifications and experience. 

19. For example, Patel provided clients with a document he prepared and titled the 

“Infinity Wealth Management Business Plan” (the “Infinity Wealth Plan”).  This document 

states, in part: 

As a revolutionary firm, however, with a revolutionary investment strategy, we 
can throw out the traditional client base and strategy almost completely.  This 
does not mean that we are not accredited and a licensed hedge fund management 
firm; Infinity Wealth Management will offer a wide range of investment 
portfolio management services hence we are well trained and equipped to service 
a wide range of clientele base. (emphasis in original) 
 
20. The Infinity Wealth Plan further claims “management staff and owners of the 

business will be considered gurus.  They are core professionals and licensed and highly qualified 
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portfolio management experts in the United States.”  Patel also told one or more clients that Patel 

was “registered,” a “certified investor” and had been “endorsed” by the Commission.   

21. Patel also created and provided clients with investment advisory agreements he 

captioned “Investor Contracts.”  On some Investor Contracts, Patel printed the official seal of the 

Commission, falsely implying that the Commission had endorsed the investment, Patel, or both. 

22. In reality, Patel and Infinity did not employ anyone, let alone anyone with the 

qualifications claimed in the Infinity Wealth Plan.  Patel and Infinity had no state or federal 

licenses or registrations related to securities, and they had no training or relevant employment 

experience related to investments in securities or portfolio management.  And they were not 

endorsed by the Commission.  Patel knew or was reckless in now knowing that the above 

statements suggesting otherwise were false or misleading.   

B. Patel Misrepresented How He Would Use Clients’ Money And 
Lied About Generating Profits On Their Investments. 
 
23. Patel falsely told clients and prospective clients that he would invest their money 

and generate profits of “80-110%” yearly for them by investing their portfolios in “blue chip 

stocks,” options, other equity securities, and crypto assets.     

24. Those representations were false.  Over the course of the fraud, Patel received 

approximately $430,000 from at least 15 clients.  While Patel transferred some of the money he 

received from clients to his personal accounts at securities trading platforms and crypto 

exchanges and subsequently used the money to trade equities and purchase crypto assets, he 

misappropriated the majority of the money he received from clients. 

25. Patel spent most of the money for personal uses – such as online sports betting 

and living expenses – and to make Ponzi-like payments to other clients.  Moreover, the little 

investing Patel did was not profitable; he lost almost all of the money he used for investing.   
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26. In addition to not investing funds as he promised, on multiple occasions during 

the Relevant Period, Patel falsely told clients that he had profitably invested money on their 

behalf and that the investments had generated profits.   

27. For example, in August 2020, Patel texted one client that the client’s initial 

investment of $2,050 generated a profit of $238.16—more than 10%.  However, Patel never 

invested the client’s money.  Instead, Patel spent it on fast food and cash withdrawals, and to 

make payments to others.  Following Patel’s false claim of generating profits for the client on 

this initial investment, the client sent Patel additional money to invest on his behalf. 

28. In November 2020, Patel again texted this client and falsely claimed that his now 

$8,500 investment earned a profit of $2,735.66.  Again, Patel had not invested this client’s 

money, and no profit was earned.  Instead, Patel spent the money the client invested on personal 

expenses and payments to other clients.   

29. Similarly, Patel sent text messages to another client, encouraging them to invest 

and claiming that he generated profits for them.  In one text message, Patel wrote:  

I have an idea instead of a trial period where I tell you an amount which isn’t the 
best, you could get in like 2500-5k for the week then withdraw next week and 
send the money back with profits… Cause that way: 1. You’ll make good profits 
this week.  2. You’ll get to see I’m legit when you see actual cash coming back to 
you instead of just disappearing to some random guy lol.   

 
30. After this client transferred money to Patel, Patel sent him another text message, 

stating: 

Initial Investment: $25,000.00 
Profits: $1,983.91 
Commission (10.5%): $208.31 
TOTAL: $26,775.60 
 

As with the previous example, these numbers were fictitious. 
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31. Similarly, Patel told other clients that their accounts were increasing in value 

when they were not.  

C. Patel Falsely Told Clients That He Guaranteed Their Principal. 
 

32. The Investor Contracts, which Patel wrote and provided to his clients, falsely 

guaranteed their initial investments, stating: “[t]here is a solidified verbal and written agreement 

in returning the initial investment no matter the circumstances, if necessary.”   

33. In some Investor Contracts, Patel promised to return the client’s principal in “2-3 

weeks at the latest;” in others he promised repayment of principal in “1-2 weeks at the latest.”   

34. Some clients also received a “Bill of Sale” from Patel confirming that Patel 

“guarantee[d]” the client could get the principal amount of their investments back whenever the 

client deemed necessary.   

35. At the time Patel made these promises, he knew or was reckless in not knowing 

that there was no reasonable basis for him to believe that he could return his clients’ money upon 

demand.  Patel was not investing the money in securities and crypto assets, as he had 

represented.  Instead, he was using it for himself and to make Ponzi-like payments to other 

clients.     

D. Patel Also Lied To Clients Regarding Required “Fees.” 
 
36. In the Investor Contracts he wrote, Patel described a “commission/fee” schedule 

Infinity would collect from clients depending on the amount of money the client provided 

Infinity to manage.  According to the schedule, the more an individual provided Patel to manage, 

the lower the so-called “commission/fee” would be.  The agreements further provided that the 

client “agrees to dispose of a certain percentage of profit, based on the initial investment.”   
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37. Patel’s limited trading did not generate profits, therefore no fees should have been 

charged to clients.      

38. Despite this fact, beginning at least as early as January 2021, Patel misrepresented 

to clients that they owed him “fees” in an effort to convince them to send him additional money. 

39. Patel told multiple clients that if they wanted to receive their principal investment 

amounts back, they were required to pay what he called, among other things, SEC fees, 

withdrawal fees, Virginia State Corporation Commission fees, and IRS fees. 

40. In reality, none of these investors owed any such fees; and there were no fees 

relating to these clients from the SEC, the Virigina State Corporation Commission, or the IRS.  

41. Collectively, clients paid Patel at least $89,000 in phony “fees.”   

42. At least three clients paid Patel significantly more in fictitious fees than the 

amount of money they sent to Patel to invest on their behalf.  

E. Patel Violated The Federal Securities Laws. 
 
43. During the Relevant Period, Patel perpetrated a fraud on clients and potential 

clients. 

44. Patel employed a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud and engaged in acts, 

transactions, or courses of business that operated as a fraud or deceit upon clients. 

45. Patel made false statements of material fact and omitted to state material facts 

necessary to make statements made not misleading. 

46. Patel had ultimate authority for false and misleading statements made to existing 

clients and potential clients in written materials. 

47. All of the misrepresentations and omissions set forth herein, individually and in 

the aggregate, are material. 
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48. Patel obtained money or property by means of false statements to clients, 

including money that he misappropriated. 

49. Patel acted knowingly and/or recklessly in making the above false and misleading 

statements and in undertaking the deceptive conduct. 

50. Patel acted as an investment adviser during the Relevant Period by providing 

investment advisory services for a fee. 

51. In perpetrating the fraud, Patel used the means or instruments of interstate 

commerce or of the mails, or the facility of a national securities exchange, including by sending 

numerous false statements via text. 

52. The conduct alleged herein was in connection with the offer, purchase, or sale of 

securities. 

53. On information and belief, an order requiring payments to investors arose from 

the Alabama Securities Commission’s parallel investigation. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act 

 
54. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 53 

as though fully set forth herein. 

55. By engaging in the conduct alleged herein, Patel knowingly or recklessly, in the 

offer or sale of securities, directly or indirectly, by the use of means or instruments of 

transportation or communication in interstate commerce or by use of the mails: 

a. employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud: 

b. obtained money or property by means of untrue statements of material fact or 

omissions to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, 

in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and/or 
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c. engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business which operated or would 

operate as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers of securities. 

56. By engaging in the foregoing conduct, Patel violated, and unless enjoined, will 

continue to violate Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)]. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 Thereunder) 

57. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 53 

as though fully set forth herein. 

58. By engaging in the conduct alleged herein, Patel knowingly or recklessly, in 

connection with the purchase or sale of securities, directly or indirectly, by the use of means or 

instruments of interstate commerce, or by use of the mails, or of any national securities 

exchange: 

a. employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud: 

b. made untrue statements of material fact or omitted to state material facts 

necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances 

under which they were made, not misleading; and/or 

c. engaged in acts, practices, or courses of business which operated or would operate 

as a fraud or deceit upon any person. 

59. By engaging in the conduct described above, Patel violated, and unless enjoined, 

will continue to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 

thereunder [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5]. 
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THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
(Violations of Section 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisors Act) 

60. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 53 

as though fully set forth herein. 

61. By engaging in the conduct alleged herein, Patel knowingly or recklessly or, with 

respect to subpart b below, negligently, as an investment adviser, directly or indirectly, by use of 

the means or instrumentality of interstate commerce or of the mails: 

a. employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud any client or prospective client; 

and 

b. engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business which operated or would 

operate as a fraud or deceit upon any client or prospective client. 

62. By engaging in the conduct described above, Patel violated, and unless enjoined 

will continue to violate, Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1) 

and 80b-6(2)]. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court enter a final 

judgment: 

I. 

 Permanently restraining and enjoining Defendant Patel from violating Section 17(a) of 

the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)]; Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)]  

and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5]; and Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the 

Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1) and 80(b)-6(2)]; 

II. 

 For a period of five years, restraining and enjoining Defendant Patel from, directly or 
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indirectly, including, but not limited to, through any entity owned or controlled by Defendant, 

participating in the issuance, purchase, offer, or sale of any security; provided, however, that 

such injunction shall not prevent Defendant from purchasing or selling securities for his own 

personal accounts.  

III. 

 For a period of five years, restraining and enjoining Defendant Patel from, directly or 

indirectly, acting as or being associated with any investment adviser.  

IV. 

 Ordering Defendant Patel to disgorge any and all ill-gotten gains, together with 

prejudgment interest, derived from the activities set forth in this Complaint; and  

V. 

 Granting such other and further relief as this Court may determine to be just and 

necessary. 

JURY DEMAND 
 

Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff demands that this 

case be tried to a jury. 
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      Respectfully submitted, 

 

     By: s/ John V. Donnelly III 

John V. Donnelly III, Esq. 
Gregory Bockin, Esq. 
Kingdon Kase, Esq. 
Jennifer Miller, Esq. 
United States Securities and Exchange 
Commission 

 1617 JFK Blvd., Suite 520 
 Philadelphia, PA 19103 

 Telephone: (215) 597-3100 
 Facsimile: (215) 597-2740 

Email:  DonnellyJ@sec.gov 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF UNITED 
STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION 

      (Appearing pursuant to Local Rule 83.1(c)) 

Dated:  September 19, 2025 
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